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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff, INDICTMENT

v 18 U.S.C. § 371

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)

15 U.S.C. § 78ff

17 C.F.R. § 240710b-5
18 U.S.C. § 1343

(1) MARK ALLEN MILLER,
(2) CHRISTOPHER JAMES RAJKARAN,
and
(3) SAEID JABERIAN,
Also known as “Andre Jaberian,”

Defendants.
THE UNITED STATES GRAND JURY CHARGES:

OVERVIEW

1. The defendants devised and carried out a scheme to surreptitiously
hijjack and assume control over dormant public shell companies. They used their
control over the companies to fraudulently manipulate and pump up the price of the
companies’ stock so that they could profit from the sale of stock to unwitting investors.
As part of the scheme, the defendants acquired large amounts of stock in dormant
public shell companies that traded over-the-counter at l;)W prices, often less than
$0.01 per share. After acquiring the stock at low prices; the defendants assumed
control over the shell companies by creating fake and filing fake resignation letters
and board resolutions purporting the announce the résignatipn of the existing
management team and the appointment of one or more conspirators as new officers
and directors of the companies. The conspirators used their control over the hijacked

shell companies to issue fraudulent press releases and public filings_designed to
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fraudulently inflate and “pump up” the price of the hijacked companies’ stock. The
defendants then sold or “dumped” their stock at the fraudul?ntly imflated and
pumped-up prices.

COUNT 1
(Conspiracy To Commit Securities Fraud)

2. At times relevant to this Indictment:

a. Defendant MARK ALLEN MILLER was a stock promoter who
lived in Breezy Point, Minnesota.

b. Defendant CHRISTOPHER JAMES RAJKARAN was a stock
promoter who lived in Queens, New York, and Georgetown, Guyafna.

c. Individual A was a stock promoter; who lived in
Queens, New York. Individual A lived with and was in a relationship with defendant
RAJKARAN.

d. Digitiliti Inc. was a Minnesota corporation that traded publicly"
over the counter under the ticker symbol DIGI. Digitifiti purported to be a company
that provided online data protection, but was actually a dorm?ant shell company
without any significant operations or revenue.

e. Encompass Holdings Inc. was a Nevada corpgration t},{at trad?d
publicly over the counter undér the ticker symbol ECMH. Encompiass purported to be
a computer software company, but was actually a dormant shell company Withouty
any significant operations or revenue.

f. Bell Buckle Holdings Inc. was a Florida corporation that traded

publicly over the counter under the ticker symbol BLLB. Bell Buckle Holdings

t
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purported to be a debt collection company, but was actually a dormant shell company

without any significant operations or revenue.

t

g. . Defendant SAEID JABERIAN, also known as “Andre Jaberian,”

Jived 'in Hopkins, Minnesota. JABERIAN served as the nominal CEO and Board

member of Bell Buckle Holdings.
h. Utilicraft Aerospace Industries Inc. was a Nevada corporation
that traded publicly over the counter under the tic_kef symbol UITA. Utilicraft

purported to be an aerospace company, but was actually'a dormant shell company

H
H

without any significant operations or revenue.

t

1. Individual B'was a relative of MILLEE who lived in Breezy Point,
Minnesota. Individual B served as the nominal CEO of- Utilicraft Aerospace

Industries Inc.

1
J- The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is a government

agency that regulates publicly traded companies-in the Unitet{i States. The SEC
requires public companies to issue regular reports updating investors on any events
or changes that would be material to investors and ﬁotentia} investors in the

company. Such events are reported through the filing of a Form 8-K. The SEC’s

f

Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and f{etrieval‘r(EDGAR) systein is the primary

system for companies to submit public filings and other documents.
k. Thé over-the-counter (“OTC”) market is a system of trading stocks

that are not listed on centralized stock exchanges, such as the New York Stock

¥

Exchange or Nasdagq. Ma;ny OTC stocks are “penny stocks” that trade for OTC

Markets Group, formerly known as the pink‘sheets, operates a public market for OTC

+
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stocks. OTC Markets Group provides pricing and liquidity information that facilitates
the trading of OTC stocks.
3. From at least in or about 2017 through in or about 2019, in the State
and District of Minnesota, and elsewhere, the defendants,
MARK ALLEN MILLER,
CHRISTOPHER JAMES RAJKARAN, and
SAEID JABERIAN, also known as “Andre Jaberian,”

knowingly and willfully conspired and agreed with each other, Individual A, and

- others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit securities fraud—that-is,

to knowingly and willfully, directly and indirectly, by use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the mails, and the fa;cilities of national
securities exchanges, ﬁse and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and
contrivances in connection with the purchase and sale of securities, in violation of
Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by (a) employing devices,
schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) making an untrue statement of-material fact
and omitting to state-a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c)
engaging in acts, practices, and courses of business which operated and would operate
as a fraud and deceit upon persons, in violation of Title 15, United States Code,
Sections 78j(b) and 78ff.

The Purpose of the Conspiracy

4, The purpose of the.conspiracy was to hijack and assume control over

dormant public shell companies and use that control to frrlgludulently manipulate the
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price of the company stock so that the conspirators could profit from the sale of stock

at fraudulently inflated and “pumped up” prices.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy
5. The conspirators used the following manners and means, among others,
to accomplish the purpose of the conspiracy.

a. The conspirators identified dormant public shell companies—that
is, publicly traded conipanies without activé operations that have stopped filing their
required SEC and secretary of state filings. These dormant public shell companies
traded publicly on the OTC stock market, génerally for fractions on a penny per share.

b. The conspirators then bought stock in the dormant public shell
companies at low prices in the OTC market. The conspirators v%zere able to obtain
hundreds of thousands or even millions of shares because the stocks traded at only a
fraction of a penny per share.

c. After buying stock in the dormant public shell companies, the
conspirators hijacked and took control over the companies by creating and filing fake
resignation letters and board minutes purporting to announce the resignation of the
prior corporate officers and the appointment of one-or more of the conspirators as new
officers and board members.

d. The conspirators used these fake documents to gain access to and

- control over the companies’ accounts with the SEC’s EDGAR filing-system, which

allowed them to make public filings on behalf of the hijacked companies.

t
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e. The conspirators usedtheir control over the hijacked shell
companies to issue fraudulent press releases and public filings designed to
fraudulently inflate and “pump up” the price of the hijacked companies’ stock.

f. Finally, the conspirators sold or “dumped” their stock at the
fraudulently inflated and pumped-up stock prices to unsuspecting{ investors.

Overt Acts
6. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its u?nlawful objectives,
defendants MILLER, RAJKARAN, and JABERIAN committed}and caused to be
committed the following overt acts, among others, in the State and District of
Minnesota, and elsewhere:

A. The Hijacking of Digitiliti Inc. (OTC: DIGI)

7. In or about September and October 2017, defendant MILLER hijacked
and fraudulently assumed control over Digitiliti Inc. (OTC: DIGI), a dormant public
shell company. MILLER used his control over the company to fraudulently
manipulate and pump up the price of the company’s stock so the;t he could profit from
the sale of at fraudulently inflated prices to unwitting investors. -

8. MILLER hijacked and assumed control over Digitiliti by drafting a fake
resignation letter and board minutes falsely stating that the corfnpany’s prior CEO
had resigned, and that MILLER was being appointed as President and CEO.

9. On or about September 29, 2017, defendant MILLER submitted to the
SEC paperwork falsely identifying himself as President and CE(? of Digitiliti and a

fake resignation letter from Digitiliti’'s CEO. MILLER used these materials to request
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the filing codes allowing him to access xthe company’s SEC EDGAR filing account,
which allowed MILLER to make public filings with the SEC on behalf of the company.

10. On or about Qctoi)er 4, 2017, defendant MILLER fil(?d an SEC Form 8-
K fraudulently announcing the resignation of the prior CEO and MILLER’s
appointment as President and CEO of Digilitili. *

11. On or about October 11, 2017, defendant MILLER filed updated
corporate registration documents with the Minnesota Secretary of State listing
MILLER-as the CEO of Digitiliti.

12. On or about November 4, 2017, defendant MILLER bought 50,000
shares of Digitiliti stock.

13.  After hijacking Digitiliti, defendant MILLER3 used his control over the
company to issue a false and misleading press release on behalf of the company. On
or about July 9, 2018, MILLER issued a press release falsely claiming that Digitiliti
had “entered into-negotiations” with a private company looking to “buy-out” Digitiliti.
The press release further claimed, again falsely, that the private company “has a
proven track record of revenue generation and success in a highly desirable market
sector.” This release was fraudulent and designed to p{lmp up and fraudulently
inflate the price of Digitiliti stock so that MILLER could sell his shares at a profit.

14.  On or about July 27, 2018, defendant MILLER sold ﬂis 50,000 shares of
Digitiliti stock.

The Hijacking of Encompass Holdings I'nc.}‘ (OTC: ECMH)
15. In or about October and November 2017, defendants MILLER and

RAJKARAN and others hijacked and fraudulently assumed contr:ol over Encompass
7
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t

Holdings Inc., a dormant public shell company that traded under the symbol ECMH.
MILLER and RAJKARAN used their control over the company to fraudilently
manipulate and pump up the price of the company’s stock so that they and others
could profit from the sale of stock at fraudulently inflated prices to unwitting

investors.

16. In 2017, defendants MILLER and RAJKARAN began purchasing shares }

of ECMH at low prices on the OTC market. Together they purchased more than 40
million shares of ECMH stock.

a. Defendant MILLER purchased apprpygimately 12 million shares
of ECMH stock between June and November 2017.

b. Defendant RAJKARAN purchased approximately 29 million
shares of ECMH stock on or about November 2, 2017.

17. On or about October 20, 2017, defendant MILLER drafted a fake
resignation letter and board minutes falsely announcing ’ghe resignation of ECMH’s
Presidenf and CEO and MILLER’S appointment as President and CEO of the
company.

18.  On or about November 1, 2017, defendant MILLER sub‘mitted, through
an agent, a request to update the filing codes for ECMH’s EDGAR account. MILLER
submitted copies of the fake board minutes that fraudulently purported to document
the resignation of ECMH’S% President and CEO and the a\pp‘oiriltment of MILLER as
President and CEO of ECMH.

19.  Onor about November 2, 2017, defendant RAJKARAN began promoting

ECMH stock on investorshub.com, an internet website popular with individuals who

8
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trade in the OTC market. RAJKARAN posted under the username “Blue Pheonix”
[sic]. l
20.  Onor about November 2, 2017, defendant MILLER issued an SEC Form
8-K fraudulently announcing the resignation of Encompass’s Pres?dent and CEO and
claiming that MILLER had been appointed to serve in.these positions.

21. On‘ or about November 3, 2017, defendant MILLER ‘also issued a press
release announcing his appointment as President and board member of Encompass.
The press release falsely claimed that the company was “shifting its focus: to

M

Residential and Commercial Real Estate Holdings.” The release described

Encompass as a “diversified holding company which invests in commercial and
residential opportunities with the highest possible ROI and cash flow rate to benefit
the corporation and its stakeholders.” This was not true.

22.  On or about Novgmber 8, 2017, defendant RAJ KAR@N made a series of
posts on investorshub.com designed to promote and inflate the price of ECMH stock.
For example, he posted that the new CEO was “probably worth close to 20 million in
real estate holding[s] and construction equipment . . . heard he owns several strip
malls in mn.”

23. On or about November 9, 2017, defendént {‘MILLER 1ssued a second
press release on behalf of ECMH. The release falsely claimed that the company had
signed a letter of intent to acquire the assets of DDG Properties that were worth
approximately $6.4 million. The press release further clairped that Encompass would

be assuming DDG Properties’ gross revenues of $534,000. None of this was true. Both

press releases were fraudulent and designed to pump up and frauaulently inflate the

9
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price of VDigitﬂiti stock so that MILLER and RAJKARAN could sell their shares at a
profit.

24. Defendants MILLER and RAJKARAN then sold or “dumped” their stock
after they had fraudulently inflated the stock price through their fraudulent press
releases and internet postings.

a. On or about November 13, 2017, MILLER sold all 12 million
shares of ECMH at fraudulently inflated prices. In all, he obtained a profit of more
than 300 percent.

b. Between November 10 and 14, 2017, defendant RAJKARAN sold
more than 34 million shares of ECMH. In all, he earned a return of approximately
150 percent on his “investment.” |

The Hijaci(ing of Bell Buckle Holdings Inc. (OTC: BLLB)

25. In or about February 2018, defendants MiLLER,‘j RAJKARAN, and
JABERIAN, as well as Individual A, hijacked and fraudulently assumed control over
Bell Buckle Holdings, Inc., a dormant public shell company tha!; traded under the
symbol BLLB. MILLER, RAJKARAN, and JABERIAN used the:ir control over the
company to fraudulently manipulate and pump up the price of t}§1e company’s stock
so that they and others could profit from the sale of stock at fraudulently inflated
prices to unwitting investors. :

26.  On or about February 20, 2018, defendant MILLERgdrafted fake board
minutes that falsely purported to aécept the resignation of the President and CEO of

Bell Buckle Holdings. The minutes also purported to appoﬁnt JABiERIAN as the new

President and CEO. '
10
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27. Two days later, on or about February 22, 2018, defendants MILLER,
RAJKARAN, and JABERIAN, and Individual A, began buying shares of BLLB stock.
Collectively, they purchased more than 60 million shax;es of BLLB stock over the five-
day period from February 22 to 26, 2018.

a. Miller purchased 8 million shares of BLLB stock on February 22,
2018.

b. Defendant RAJKARAN purchased more than 30 million shares of
BLLB stock between February 22 and 26, 2018.

C. Individual A purchased more than 4 million shares of BLLB on
February 22 and 23, 2018.

d. Defendant JABERIAN purchased approximately 20.5 million
shares of BLLB on or about February 26 and 28, 2018. i

28.  On or about February 22, 2018, defendant MILLER filed paperwork

reinstating Bell Buckle Holdings’s incorporation with the Florida‘Secretary of State.

MILLER listed JABERIAN as the CEO and registered agent of the company on the
form. Defendant RAJKARAN paid the $2,108.75 in fees. to rein;state the company
with the Florida Secretary of State.

29.  On or about February 22, 2018, Individual"A began promoting BLLB
stoc_k by posting messages promoting the stock on investorshul?.com. These posts
were designed to fraudulently inflate the price of BLLB stock.

30.  On or about February 23, 2018, defendantsIMII;LER and JABERIAN
submitted, or caused to be submitted, an application Nto obtain the passphrase

1

allowing them to access Bell Buckle Holdings’s EDGAR account. '
11
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31. On or about February 26, 2018, defendants MILLER and JABERIAN
filed; or caused to be filed, an SEC Form 8-K announcing the resignation of the former
CEO of Bell Buckle Holdings and Jaberian’s appointment-as CEO and sole director.

32. That same day, Individual A made several posts ‘about Bell Buckle
Holdings on investorshub.com. Inone post, Individual A r}oted that JABERIAN had
been appointed as CEO of the company, and falsely, claifned that JABERIAN “has
been in the import/export business for the past 35 years, primarily dealing in bulk
leather sales through the ports of Salerno, Italy and Izmir, Turkey; with commercial
real estate ties to Dubai.”

33.  On or about February 28, 2018, defendants MILLER; RAJKARAN, and
JABERIAN drafted and issued, or caused to be issued, a press release announcing
JABERIAN’s appointment as CEO of Bell Buckle Holdings. The press release falsely
described the company as “a new emerging Import/Export business in the U.S. with
a long history of Bulk Leather Sales in the European and Middle-Eastern-Markets.”
The press release falsely claimed that JABERIAN had been “an Importer/Exporter
for the past 35 years operating a family owned business,: which ‘was established in
1958” and that his company had been involved in bulk leather sales “to the Ports of.
Salerno, Italy and Izmir, Turkey.” None of this was tru‘}e. This: press release was
issued in order to fraudulently pump up the price of BLLB stock.

34. Defendants MILLER, RAJKARAN, and JABERIAN, and Individual A,

then sold or “dumped” their stock after they had fraudulently inflated the stock price

through their fraudulent press releases and internet postings.

12
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a. MILLER sold all 8 million shares of BLLB between February 27
and Ma;‘ch 1, 2018, for a total return of nearly 900 percent.

b. Defendant RAJKARAN sold his more'than 30 million shares of
BLLB stock on‘March 1, 2018. In all, he obtained nearly a 100 percent return in less
than two weeks.

c. Defendant JABERIAN sold approximately 20.5 million shares of
BLLB stock between February 28 and March 5, 2018, for a return of approximately
350 percent.

d. Individual A sold all 4 million of her BLLB shares between
February 28 and March 5, 2018. In all, she obtained a return of ai)proximately more
than 400 percent.

The Hijacking of Utilicraft Inc. (OTC: UITA)

35. In or about March 2018, defendants MILLER and RAJKARAN, along
with Individuals A and B, hijacked and fraudulently manipulated the stock of
Utilicraft Inc., a dormant public shell company that traded under the symbol UITA.
MILLER, RAJKARAN, and JABERIAN used their control over the company to
fraudulently manipulate and pump up the price of the company’s stock so that they
and others could profit from the sale of stock at fraudulently inflated prices to
unwitting investors.

36. On or about March 8, 2018, defendants MILLER and JABERIAN, and
Individuals A and B, began pur;:hasing shares'of UITA stock at low prices in the OTC
market. Collectively, the purchased approximately 9 ‘million shares of UITA stock

over the nine-day period from March 8 to 16, 2018..
13
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a. MILLER purchased approximately 2.55 million shares of UITA
stock between Max:ch 8 and 14, 2018.

b. JABERIAN purchased more than 5 million shares of UITA stock
between March 9 and 16, 2018.

c. Individual A purchased approximately 750,000 shares of UITA
stock between March 8 and 12, 2018.

d. Individual B purchased approximately 780,000 shares of UITA
stock on March 13 and 14, 2018. |

57. On "or about March 15, 2018, defendant MILLER created a fake
resignation letter and board minutes purporting to document the resignation of
Utilicraft’s CEO and the appointment of Individual B as the new CEO.

38. That same day, defendant RAJKARAN and Individual A began
promoting UITA stock through a series of posts on investorshub.com.

39. On or about March 16, 2018, defendant KMILLENJ'R submitted an
application to obtain the filing codes for Utilicrafts EDGAR account. MILLER
attached a fake document purporting to show that Utilicraft’s CEO had resigned and
that Individual B had been appointed as the new CEO. |

40. On or about March 21, 2018, defendant MILLER used his newly

obtained control.over the company’s EDGAR account to issue, or cause to be issued,

-

an SEC Form 8-K announcing the resignation of Utilicraft’s CEO and Individual B’s -

appointment as the new CEO. The 8-K further announced that MILLER had been

appointed as Interim Secretary and Advisor.

14
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41. On or about March 22, 2018, defendant MILLER issued, or caused to be
issued, a press release announcing Individual B’s appointment as the new CEO of
Utilicraft. The press release falsely claimed that the company “vs%ill be entering into
a new market sector, applying for a ticker symbol change,t and applying for an uplist
to the OTCQB Tier in the near future.” The press release was f_i'audulent and
intended to fraudulently manipulate and pump up the price of UITA stock so that the
conspirators and others could sell their recently acquired stock at'a profit.

42. Defendants MILLER and JABERIAN, and Individuals A-and B, then
sold or “dumped” their stock after they had fraudulently inflated the stock price
through their fraudulent press releases and internet postings.

a. MILLER sold all 2.55 million shares of UITA on March 22 and 23,

v
]

2018, for a total return of approximately 140 percent.

b. JABERIAN sold his more than 5 million shares at fraudulently
inflated prices on March 21 and 22, 2018. In all, he obtained a return of more than
100 percent over a two-week period.

c: Individuals A and.B also sold nearly all of their UITA shares at
fraudulently inflated prices between March 20 and 22, 2018, making returns of
approximately 500 percent and 29 percent, respectively.

43. It was further part of the scheme that defendants MILLER,
RAJKARAN, and JABERIAN concealed, misrepresented, and caused to be concealed
and misrepresented, the existence and purpose of the scheme and the acts done in

furtherance of the scheme.

15
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, Title 15, United
States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations,
Section 240.10b-5.

Counts 2-10
(Securities Fraud)

44. The allegations ‘in paragraphs 1 through 43 of t_’he Indictment are
incorporated herein.
45. From at least in or about 2017 through in or about.i2019, in the State
and District of Minnesota, and elsewlhere, the defendants,l
MARK ALLEN MILLER, x
CHRISTOPHER JAMES RAJKARAN,
SAIED JABERIAN, also known as “Andre J aberia}n,”
each aiding and abetting one another, and being aided and abet'iced by one another
and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, by useiof .the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the mails, and facilities of national
securities exchanges, directly and indirectly, did knowingly and willfully use
manipulative.and deceptive devices and contrivances; in contraxizention of Title 17,
Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, in conne;:tion with the purchase and
sales of securities By: (a) employing (ievices, schemes, and’ artifices to defraud; (b)
making dn untrue statement of material fact and omitting to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light (j)f the ci}"cumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaging in acts, practices, and
courses of business which operated and would operate as a fl‘al;ld and deceit upon

H

" §
persons, in that they participated in a scheme to defraud the investing public by

16
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hijacking and taking over dormant shell companies, for the purpose of artificially
inflating and manipulating the price of those securities, in vidlation of Title 15,

United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; and Title 17; Code of Federal

b }

Regulations, Section 240.10b-5.
46. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Stéte and District of
Minnesota, and elsewhere, the defendants,
MARK ALLEN MILLER,
CHRISTOPHER JAMES RAJKARAN, and
SAEID JABERIAN, also known as “Andre Jaberian,”
each aiding and abetting one another, and being aided and abetted by one another

and by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of executing

the securities fraud scheme set forth above, made, or caused to be made, the following

sales or purchases of securities:

17

Count| Defendant(s) Date Deseription |
(on: or about: -
2 MILLER November 14, | Defendant' MILLER’s purchase of |
2017 50,000 shares of DIGI stock for
approximately $0.0051 per share
3 MILLER, -November 2, Defendant RAJKARAN’s purchase
‘ RAJKARAN 2017 of 29,662,500 shares' of ECMH for
$0.0004 per share
4 MILLER, November 13, | Defendant MILLER’s sale of 2
RAJKARAN 2017 .million shares of ECMH stock for
‘ $0.0012 per share:
5 | MILLER, November 13, | Defendant MILLER's sale of 10
RAJKARAN 12017 million sh%tres of tECMH stock for
$0.0011 per share,
6 MILLER, "I November 14, Defendant’' RAJKARAN’s  sale of
RAJKARAN 2017 3,263,498 shares of ECMH stock for
$0.0018 per share,
7 MILLER, February 22, Defendant RAJKARAN’s purchase
RAJKARAN, 2018 of 2 million shares of BLLB stock for
JABERIAN $0.0003 per share!
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8 MILLER, February 22, Individaul A’s purchase of 3,340,000
RAJKARAN, 2018 shares of BLLB stock for $0.0003 per
JABERIAN share ‘ i

9 MILLER, February 26, Defendant JABERIAN’s purchase of
RAJKARAN, 2018 20 million shares of BLLB for
JABERIAN $0.0008 to,$0.0009 per share

10 MILLER, March 1, 2018 | Defendant JABERIAN’s sale of
RAJKARAN, 1,050,000 shares of BLLB stock for
JABERIAN $0.0018 and $0.002 per share

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title
17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, and Title 18, United States Code,
Section 2.

Counts 11-15
(Wire Fraud)

47. The allegations in: paragraphs 1 through 43 of the Indictment are
incorporated herein.

48. From at least in or about 2017 through in or about 2020, in the State
and District of Minnesota, and elsewhere, the defendants,

I

MARK ALLEN MILLER,
CHRISTOPHER JAMES RAJKARAN, and
SAIED JABERIAN, also known as “Andre‘J aberian,”

and others known and unknown to the grand jury, did knowingly devise and
participate in a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money by means of
materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and by
concealment of material facts.

49. On or about the dates listed below, in t;he‘ State and District of

Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendants, as set forth below, for the purpose of

executing the scheme described above, knowingly caused to be transmitted by means
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of a wire communication in interstate commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, and

sounds, including the following:

?-Coﬁungf‘ "~ Defendants Wire Details
11 | MILLER, February An email * from MILLER in
RAJKARAN, 22, 2018 Minnesota to RAJKARAN with
JABERIAN the  subject line  “BLLB
Resignation and Appomtment
that passed ‘through servers
located outside the State of
Mlnnesota
12 MILLER, February An' email from MILLER in
RAJKARAN, 23, 2018 Minnesota  to RAJKARAN
JABERIAN contalnlng Florida Secretary of
-State records for Bell Buckle
Holdings Inc. -that passed
through servers located outside
the State of Minnesota
13 MILLER, February An email from MILLER in
RAJKARAN, 23, 2018 Minnesota  ‘to JABERIAN
JABERIAN containing Florida Secretary of
State records for Bell Buckle
Holdings Inc. that passed
through servers located outside
the State of Minnesota )
14 MILLER, February An- email from MILLER in
RAJKARAN, 23, 2018 Minnesota  to JABERIAN
JABERIAN containing a Update Passphrase
Application for Bell Buckle
Holdmgs s EDGAR account that
passed through servers located
outside the Stdte of Minnesota
15 MILLER, February . |An email from MILLER in
RAJKARAN, 26, 2018 Minnesota to RAJKARAN and
JABERIAN | JABERIAN with the subject line
“BLLB Press Release” that
passed through servers located
outside the State of Minnesota

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 13;43.
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS
* 50. Counts 1 through 15 of this Indictment are incorporated by reference for
the purpose of alleging fqrfeitur'e pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section
981(a)(1)(C) in conjunction with Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

51.  As the result of the offenses alleged in Counts 1 through 15 of this
Indictmentl the defendants shall forfeit to the United States pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), in conjunction with Title 28, United States
Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, which constgitute;s or is derived
from proceeds traceable to such violations.

52. If any of tbe above-described forfeitable property*is unavailable for
forfeiture, the United States intends to seek the forfeitur;e of substitute property as
provided for in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p) and by Title 28, United

States Code, Section 2461(c).

A TRUE BILL

ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY ©- FOREPERSON
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